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Your directors submit their report, together with the financial statements of the consolidated group, consisting of East Energy 
Resources Limited (“EER” or “the Company”) and the entity it controls (“the Group”) at the end of, or during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2021. 

Directors 

The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:- 

Mr James Newbury Managing Director and Executive Chairman (appointed 28 May 2021) 

Mr Bryan Duncan Executive Director (appointed 28 May 2021) 

Mr Grant Ferguson  Executive Director (appointed 28 May 2021) 

Mr Ranko Matic  Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary 

Mr Stephen Ross Non-Executive Director (appointed 28 May 2021) 

Mr Alastair Smith Non-Executive Director (appointed 12 July 2021) 

Mr Rex Littlewood Managing Director and Chairman (resigned 28 May 2021) 

Mr Chris Thoroughgood Non-Executive Director (resigned 28 May 2021) 

Principal activities 

The principal activity of the Group for the financial year was mineral exploration. There were no significant changes in the nature 
of the consolidated group’s principal activities during the financial year. 

Operating results 

The consolidated profit of the Group after income tax for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 amounted to $8,174,098 (2020: 
consolidated loss of $7,141,983). 

Dividends paid or recommended 

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been paid or declared by way of a dividend to 
the date of this report. 

Corporate 

On 16 September 2020, the Company went into a trading halt which then became a voluntary suspension on 17 September 

2020 due to a potential recapitalisation transaction and negotiations Noble Netherlands BV (“Noble”, the owner of Maylion Pty 

Limited, a shareholder in EER owning a shareholding of 93.42% of EER) had entered into in respect of their controlling 

shareholding in the Company.  On 30 December 2020, the Company announced to the market that Noble had entered into an 

agreement with Axis Minerals Pty Ltd (Axis), to sell its entire shareholding in EER to Axis. The announcement noted that EER 

would need to seek shareholder approval for the change in ownership. 

On 21 May 2021 the Company held a shareholder meeting where shareholders approved the acquisition by Axis Minerals Pty 

Ltd from Noble the 93.42% ownership in the Company. 

Pursuant to shareholder approval obtained on 21 May 2021, the transaction was settled and on 28 May 2021, Axis Minerals Pty 

Ltd and James Newbury (the Managing Director and owner of Axis Minerals Pty Ltd) acquired the relevant interest as the major 

shareholder of the Company with a 93.42% interest in the Company.   

On 28 May 2021 the Company subsequently changed the composition of its Board, where James Newbury was appointed as 

Executive Chairman and Managing Director, Bryan Duncan and Grant Ferguson were appointed as Executive Directors and 

Stephen Ross was appointed as a Non-Executive Director.  Rex Littlewood and Chris Thoroughgood resigned as directors with 

Ranko Matic remaining as a Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary. 

As part of the Share Sale Agreement between Noble and Axis, the debt the Company owed to Noble, of $1.855m plus accrued 

interest, was forgiven on 28 May 2021.  

Subsequent to the end of the period the Company appointed Alastair Smith to the Board as a Non-Executive Director on 12 July 

2021. 

The Company currently remains suspended from the ASX pending a possible recapitalisation transaction and obtaining funds to 
provide for future activities.  
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Review of operations 

BLACKALL COAL PROJECT – REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

The Blackall Project consists of a major thermal coal deposit held within MDL 464 EPC 1149, EPC 1398 and EPC1399.  It is 

located close to the township of Blackall in the eastern Eromanga Basin in central western Queensland. 

Project Background 

Based on exploration drilling conducted between June 2008 and June 2012, SRK Consulting completed an updated Coal 
Resource Estimate for EPC 1149 which was released in September 2012 (announced to the ASX on 17/9/2012).  The SRK 
report included a total JORC Resource estimate of 1,741 Mt, comprising 1,113Mt of Inferred Resources and 628 Mt of Indicated 
Coal Resources within EPC 1149.1  Following the acquisition of Idalia Coal Pty Ltd and its tenements in May 2013 the company 
conducted further exploration drilling on EPC’s 1398 and 1399 between June 2012 and August 2013.  During the reporting 
period, East Energy Resources Ltd (EER) maintained its 100% ownership of the Blackall Coal Project in Queensland. The main 
coal resources in the project are held within MDL 464 and EPC’s 1149, 1398 and 1399.  With the reduced demand for new 
sources of thermal coal, the company has minimised its expenditure and has carried out no field work during the reporting year.  
Alternative strategies for development of the resource continue to be considered. 

JORC Resource Statements 

In July 2014 the Company announced to the ASX a Coal Resource Statement for EPC1399 comprising a JORC (2012) 
compliant Inferred Coal Resource of 1,504 million tonnes2.  In total, the resource statements announced to date for the Blackall 
Coal Project confirm that the Company holds a combined JORC Total Coal Resource Estimate of 3.44 billion tonnes of thermal 
quality coal at its Blackall Coal Project.  The July 2014 announcement also included an updated Exploration Target in the range 
of 2.0 to 2.5 billion tonnes within EPC1398 and EPC1399. All references to Reported Exploration Targets are in accordance with 
the guidelines of the JORC Code (2012). As such, the potential quantity and grade is conceptual in nature and there has been 
insufficient exploration to estimate a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will result in the estimation of a 
Mineral Resource. 

Disclaimer:  The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that would materially affect the resources and all material 
assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the Resource estimates continue to apply and have not materially changed in the 
meantime. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Blackall Project Location Map  

                                                           
1 See ASX announcement dated 17 September 2012 -1.74 Billion Tonne Thermal Coal JORC Resource 
2 See ASX announcement dated 10 July 2014 - EER REPORTS 3.44 BILLION TONNE JORC RESOURCE 
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Mineral Development License (MDL 464) 

MDL464 was granted by DNRM on 20 July 2014 for a period of 5 years, with a commencement date of 1 August 2014.  The 
MDL covers some 37,000a over the central portion of the main coal resources within EPC 1149 as shown on Figure 1 above.  In 
the reporting period, the DNRME renewed the MDL for a further 5 year period to 31 July 2024.   

Statutory Compliance and Reporting 

All tenements remain in good standing with rents paid, statutory obligations complied with and the necessary government 
reports lodged on time.  

During the period the Group fully relinquished EPC 1403 as the Company had determined that this tenement was of little value 
to the Blackall Project or the Group. 

New Projects 

The Company continues to review strategic options for exploration and development of the Blackall Coal Project and to review 
other resource project opportunities that could enhance its project portfolio and increase the overall value proposition of EER.  

Exploration 

No new exploration was undertaken on the Blackall Project tenements during the year while the company assessed various 

development options for the resources. 

Key Activities for 2020-21 Reporting Period 

 Maintain all tenements in good standing and meet all statutory reporting requirements 

 Continue to review strategic options for development of the Blackall Project; 

 Continue to appraise the market outlook for thermal coal 

 Continue to review strategic opportunities for the Company 

 Monitor Galilee Basin coal projects and government approvals  

 Monitor and assess rail and port infrastructure commitments by other proponents as to their impact on the potential 
development of the Blackall Project 

 Conduct limited desk top studies into geology, environment, alternative technologies, marketing, transport and preliminary 
mine planning 

Summary of tenement holdings and movements held by East Energy Resources Ltd 

Tenement Reference Location Interest at  
1 July 2020 

Acquired/Disposed Interest at  
30 June 2021 

EPC 1149 Blackall, QLD 100% N/A 100% 

EPC 1398 Blackall, QLD 100% N/A 100% 

EPC 1399 Blackall, QLD 100% N/A 100% 

EPC 1400 Blackall, QLD 100% N/A 100% 

EPC 1403 Blackall, QLD 100% reliquished - 

EPC 1407 Blackall, QLD 100% N/A 100% 

MDL 464 Blackall, QLD 100% N/A 100% 

Competent Persons Statement – EPC 1399 Resources 
The information in this report relating to estimates of Mineral Resources within EPC1399, is based on information compiled by Mr Peter Tighe 
who is a member of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Tighe a geological consultant to East Energy Resources Limited. Mr 
Tighe has had over 30 years’ experience in exploration, mining and resource evaluation and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the 
style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking, to qualify as Competent Person as 
defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Mr Tighe 
consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on the information, in the form and context in which it appears. 

Competent Persons Statement – EPC 1398 Resources 
The information in this announcement relating to the estimates of Mineral Resources within EPC 1398 is based on the 2004 JORC code and 
information reviewed by Mr Bill Knox, who is a Member of The AusIMM.  Mr Knox has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of 
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in 
the 2012 Edition of the JORC Code. Mr Knox consents to the inclusion in this announcement of the matters based on this information in the form 
and context in which it appears.  

Competent Persons Statement – EPC 1149 Resources 
The Coal Resource estimation for the Blackall Project (EPC 1149) presented in this report has been carried out in accordance with the principles 
and guidelines of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code 2004) and the 
Australian Guidelines for Estimating and Reporting of Inventory Coal, Coal Resources and Coal Reserves, 2003. The information in the report  
to which this statement is attached, that relates to East Energy’s Blackall Coal Resource on EPC 1149 is based on information reviewed by Dr 
Gerard McCaughan, who is a Member of The AusIMM and is a full time employee of SRK. This information was prepared and first disclosed 
under the JORC Code 2004. It has not been updated since to comply with the JORC Code 2012 on the basis that the information has not 
materially changed since it was last reported. Dr McCaughan has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of 
deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the 
JORC Code. Dr McCaughan consents to the inclusion in the announcement of the matters based on this information in the form and context in 
which it appears. 

Competent Persons Statement – Exploration Targets  
The information in this report relating to Exploration Targets within EPC 1398 and EPC 1399 is based on information compiled by Mr Peter Tighe 
who is a Member of The AusIMM and a Geological Consultant to East Energy Resources Ltd.  Mr Tighe has sufficient experience which is 
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relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a 
Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 
Reserves”.  Mr Tighe consents to the inclusion in this announcement of the matters based on this information in the form and context in which it 
appears.  

Forward Looking Statements 
This Announcement may contain forward looking statements. The words 'anticipate', 'believe', 'expect', 'project', 'forecast', 'estimate', 'likely', 
'intend', 'should', 'could', 'may', 'target', 'plan‘ and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Indications of, 
and guidance on, future earnings and financial position and performance are also forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are 
subject to risk factors associated with the Company’s business, many of which are beyond the control of the Company. It is believed that the 
expectations reflected in these statements are reasonable but they may be affected by a variety of variables and changes in underlying 
assumptions which could cause actual results or trends to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such statements. There can be no 
assurance that actual outcomes will not differ materially from these statements. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements and neither East Energy Resources Limited nor any of its directors, employees, servants, advisers or agents assume any obligation 
to update such information. 

The company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included in the original market 
announcements and, in the case of estimates of Mineral Resources, that all material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the 
estimates in the relevant market announcement continue to apply and have not materially changed. The company confirms that the form and 
context in which the Competent Persons’ findings are presented have not been materially modified from the original market announcement. 

ADDENDUM TO EXPLORATION OPERATIONS REPORT 
East Energy Resources Ltd (EER) provides the following addendum to the 2021 Annual Report in accordance with ASX Listing 

Rules 5.21 and 5.24. 

MINERAL RESOURCES AND ORE RESERVES (MROR) STATEMENT 2021 

The Company has reviewed the estimated mineral resources at the Blackall Coal Project. The Blackall Project consists of three 

main coal resource areas in three tenements - EPC 1149, EPC 1398 and EPC1399.  It is located close to the township of 

Blackall in the eastern Eromanga Basin in central western Queensland. 

The current MROR Statement confirms the Company holds a combined JORC Total Coal Resource Estimate of 3.44 billion 

tonnes of thermal quality coal at its Blackall Coal Project, comprising: 

 A JORC (2012) compliant Inferred Resource of 1,504 million tonnes within EPC 1399; 

 A JORC (2004) compliant Inferred Resource of 200 million tonnes within EPC 1398; and  

 A JORC (2004) compliant Resource of 1,740.5 million tonnes within EPC 1149, consisting of a 627.5 million tonnes 
Indicated Resource and 1,113 million tonnes Inferred Resource. 

Summary of Mineral Resources at the Blackall Coal Project as at 30 June 2021 

Table 1 – EPC 1399 JORC (2012) Coal Resources  

Tenement JORC (2012) COAL RESOURCES 

 Inferred (Mt) Indicated (Mt) Measured (Mt) 

EPC 1399 1,504 - - 

  

TOTAL 1,504 million tonnes 

Table 2 – EPC 1399 Coal Quality 

Seam Name 
Resource 
Category 

Insitu Tonnes 
(Mt) 

Inherent 
Moisture % 

(adb) 
Ash (adb) 

Fixed 
Carbon % 

(adb) 

Volatile 
Matter % 

(adb) 

Total 
Sulphur % 

(db) 

Calorific 
Value Kcal/kg 

(adb) 

      1 Upper INFERRED 143 16.4 24.0 33.6 25.6 0.40 4156 

      1 Lower INFERRED 105 15.4 29.0 32.0 23.6 0.30 3846 

      2 Upper INFERRED 123 15.8 30.6 29.8 23.7 0.51 3728 

      2 Lower INFERRED 104 16.0 29.3 30.8 24.0 0.52 3805 

     3 Upper-1 INFERRED 193 16.1 23.6 35.2 25.0 0.48 4225 

     3 Upper-2 INFERRED 169 17.0 19.2 37.7 26.1 0.47 4497 

     3 Lower-1 INFERRED 105 15.7 22.5 35.8 25.8 0.71 4347 

     3 Lower-2 INFERRED 96 15.1 27.6 33.1 24.1 0.56 3986 

     4 Upper-1 INFERRED 84 15.5 23.9 35.2 25.4 0.62 4280 

     4 Upper-2 INFERRED 110 17.4 16.9 38.9 26.8 0.65 4678 

     4 Lower INFERRED 120 16.7 18.9 38.4 26.0 0.55 4559 

5 INFERRED 151 16.3 19.4 38.2 26.1 0.82 4570 

Total INFERRED 1,504   
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Table 3 – EPC 1398 JORC (2004) Coal Resources  

Tenement EXISTING JORC (2004) COAL RESOURCES 

 Inferred (Mt) Indicated (Mt) Measured (Mt) 

EPC 1398  200 - - 

  

TOTAL 200 million tonnes 

 

Table 4 – EPC 1398 Coal Quality 

Resource 
Category 

Insitu 
Tonnes (Mt) 

Inherent 
Moisture 
% (adb) 

Ash 
(adb) 

Fixed 
Carbon % 
(adb) 

Volatile 
Matter % 
(adb) 

Total 
Sulphur 
% (db) 

Calorific 
Value 
Kcal/kg 
(gar) 

INFERRED 200 16.8 21.8 34.5 26.9 0.60 3570 

 

Table 5 – EPC 1149 JORC (2004) Total Coal Resources (SRK Consulting 2012)  

Tenement EXISTING JORC (2004) COAL RESOURCES 

 Inferred (Mt) Indicated (Mt) Measured (Mt) 

EPC 1149 1,113 627.5 - 

Sub-total 1,113 627.5 - 

  

TOTAL 1,740.5 million tonnes 

 

Table 6 – EPC 1149 Coal Quality (SRK Consulting Sept 2012) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MINERAL RESOURCES COMPARISON TO 2020 REPORTING  

The 2021 review of the Mineral Resource Statement for the Blackall Coal Project has confirmed that there has been no change 
to the Company’s Mineral Resources and Ores Reserves since the last report as at 30 September 2020. 
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Financial position 

The net asset position of the consolidated Group is $12,660,363 (2020: $4,486,265). Full details of the financial position of the 
Group can be found in the Financial Report section within this Annual Report.  

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 

On 12 July 2021 the Company announced the appointment of Mr. Alastair Smith as Non-Executive Director effective from 12 
July 2021. 

The Company continues to work through various commercial matters in relation to a possible recapitalisation and obtaining the 
necessary funds to provide for future activities. As a result the Company extended the voluntary suspension of its ASX listing on 
31 May 2021 to 31 August 2021. 

Whilst exploration activities have been able to continue, the impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing. It is not 
practical to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is continually developing 
and is dependent on measures imposed by Australian Government, and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing 
requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and economic stimulus that may be provided. 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period, which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the consolidated Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated Group in future financial years. 

Future developments, prospects and business strategies 

The Group intends to continue to pursue its goals to acquire, explore, and exploit mineral deposits and explore prospective 
tenements. 

Environmental regulation 

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect of its exploration activities. 

The Group aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware of and is 
in compliance with all environmental legislation. The directors of the Company are not aware of any breach of environmental 
legislation for the year under review. 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 

Mr James Newbury Managing Director and Executive Chariman (appointed 28 May 2021) 

James Newbury has extensive experience in project management and developing mines operations in Australia, Indonesia, 
Philippines and Laos. James has been involved in all facets of several mining operations in Queensland, including permitting, 
environmental assessment and compliance, feasibility studies, metallurgy, mining operations, off-take, logistics and export of 
mineral concentrates. James is the sole director of Moss Mining, and sole shareholder and director of Axis. 

Mr Bryan Duncan Executive Director (appointed 28 May 2021) 

Qualifications: BFin, BScEcon 

Bryan Duncan is an experienced commodities trader and risk manager with 16 years of experience in companies like Noble, 
Citi, and Deutsche bank and Arcadia Commodities he has led regional trading teams across Asia and has strong relationships 
on the origination and customer side. He has worked across physical trading, structured trade finance, sales/trading roles and 
Logistics co-ordination. Within Asia he has worked in Australia, Indonesia, Singapore, Hong Kong and  recently China where he 
managed the commodities business for Citibank and Deutsche bank and Arcadia.  

He has worked on the Corporate Advisory side assisting on capital raising both Debt and Equity in a variety of cross border 
transactions with a strong focus on mining and commodity focused projects. Bryan’s expertise focuses on trading and marketing 
bulk commodities (coal and iron ore), precious and base metals, from most locations into the end customer and has been active 
in vetting and funding projects to production stage. 

More recently Bryan has worked with Bedford Row Capital to drive the Fixed Income structuring business in Asia with a strong 
supply chain finance business and expand the firm's coverage in Asia, where he has expanded his exposure to a variety of 
Fixed Income solutions for HNW and family offices. 

Mr Grant Ferguson Executive Director (appointed 28 May 2021) 

Qualifications: FAIG,FAusIMM 

Grant Ferguson has significant African and country experience with over twenty-six years' in mining, exploration and 
development roles encompassing a number of Australian mining and energy executive directorships in public and private 
companies. Grant has direct experience at the Mt Moss Project and was involved in the geology, mining and creation of the 
JORC resource estimates in 2014 and 2015 underground concept study.  
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Grant's experience includes precious and base metals, bulk commodities (coal and iron ore) and renewable energy projects 
across Australia, Africa, Asia, North America, Europe and the Middle East. Grant has total project experience, from proof of 
concept, exploration, scoping/pre-feasibility/feasibility studies, Initial Public Offering (IPO) through to ECM and operations.  

Grant is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists (AIG), Fellow of the Australia Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 
(AusIMM). 

Mr Ranko Matic Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary 

Qualifications: B.Bus, CA 
Mr. Ranko Matic is a Chartered Accountant with over 30 years’ experience in the areas of financial and executive management, 
accounting, audit, business and corporate advisory. Ranko is a director of a chartered accounting firm and a corporate advisory 
company based in Perth, and has specialist expertise and exposure in areas of audit, corporate services, due diligence, 
mergers and acquisitions, and valuations. Through these positions Ranko has been involved in an advisory capacity to over 40 
initial public offerings and other re-capitalisations and re-listings of ASX companies in the last 20 years.  

Mr Matic is currently a non-executive director of ASX listed company Argosy Minerals Ltd and non-executive director of 
Australian Gold & Copper Ltd. Mr Matic has also acted as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary for companies in the 
private and public listed sector and continues to hold various roles in this capacity with publicly listed companies. 

Mr Stephen Ross Non-Executive Director (appointed 28 May 2021) 

Qualifications: AusIMM, FFSIA 

Stephen Ross is a geologist and public company director that has been operating in the minerals industry in geological 
consulting, business development and corporate positions for almost 30 years.  He has been involved with attracting substantial 
investments for junior resources companies in Australia and developing jurisdictions. 

Stephen has sourced investments of over $100 million for junior explorers and pre-development resource companies worldwide 
while holding senior management and technical positions when based in Central Asia, West Africa and Sri Lanka. He has 
developed strong relationships with investors and resource companies from Australia, Europe, China, Russia, Central Asia, 
South-East Asia and West Africa.  

Former directorships of ASX listed companies include Manas Resources Limited, Azumah Resources Limited, West African 
Resources Limited, Central Asia Resources Limited and Aguia Resources Limited. Stephen is a Member of the Australian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM) and a Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australia. 

Mr Alastair Smith Non-Executive Director (appointed 12 July 2021) 

Qualifications: B.Com, MAc, CA 

Alastair is currently Executive Director of Focus Capital Partners Ltd a Sydney and Los Angeles based venture advisory firm 
with a key focus on resources, infrastructure and industrial sectors with a bias to social impact investing.   

Alastair was a founder and Non-executive Director of Hyperion Metals Ltd (ASX:HYM), previously a Non-Executive Director of 
BBX Minerals Ltd (ASX:BBX) and a founding Partner and Director of Allos Environmental, Inc. a US based multi-state integrated 
waste management business.   He was previously a Director at Blackwood Capital Ltd, a Sydney based Merchant Bank, and 
worked in wealth management at both Euroz Securities Limited (ASX:EZL) and Patersons Securities Limited.   Prior to that, 
Alastair was a Business Consultant Executive at Pitcher Partners/Baker Tilly International in Perth and London.    

He holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Applied Finance and Commercial Law), a Masters in Accounting and is formerly a Member 
of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (CA). 

Mr Rex Littlewood Non-Executive Director (resigned 28 May 2021) 

Qualifications: B.Sc., MAICD. 

Mr Littlewood, under his company, Australian Carbon Assets, consults in most aspects of coal mine evaluation, coal technology 
and marketing and was formerly vice president at Noble Energy, the subsidiary of Noble Group responsible for the Asian coal 
and coke platform.   Mr Littlewood has forty years’ experience in international coal trade, associated with most aspects from 
mining, export, sales and financing.  Mr Littlewood has expertise in coal technology, coal use and international coal sales 
negotiations across most coal consumers worldwide. During this period Mr. Littlewood facilitated the green fields start-up of five 
producing coal mines in Australia including Mount Owen open cut, Donaldson open cut, Tasman underground, Abel 
underground, in the Hunter Valley and Middlemount open cut in Queensland.  He has negotiated investment in two operating 
coal companies and coal supply and sales agreements from Australia, New Zealand, Indonesia and South Africa. 

Mr Littlewood has more than 30 years’ experience in the international coal market, where he was involved in the development of 
mines as well as mining and export infrastructure.  At Noble he designed and implemented a fully integrated, computerised coal 
management system from mine to customer, capturing all data in a “paperless” process. 

Over the past three years Mr Littlewood has not held any other directorships of ASX Listed companies.  
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Mr Christopher Thoroughgood Non-Executive Director (resigned 28 May 2021) 

Qualifications: B.Sc. 

Mr. Thoroughgood currently holds the position of General Manager – Marketing and Logistics for MACH Energy.  MACH Energy 
owns and operates the Mt Pleasant Coal Mine.  Mr. Thoroughgood joined the MACH Energy group in 2019.  Prior to that Mr 
Thoroughgood held various roles, including Executive Director – Australia for the Noble Group for a period of 18 years and 
before this worked in various roles at Carbon Consulting International.  Mr Thoroughgood has over 26 years of experience in the 
resources industry in both technical and management roles. He graduated from the University of Newcastle with a Bachelor of 
Science. 

Over the past three years Mr Thoroughgood has not held any other directorships of ASX Listed companies. 

 
Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of East Energy Resources Limited were: 

 

 
 Ordinary Shares 

Options over 
Ordinary Shares 

Ranko Matic  220,000 - 

James Newbury 2,511,185,994 - 

Bryan Duncan 59,808,391 - 

Grant Ferguson 59,808,391 - 

Stephen Ross 59,808,391 - 

Alastair Smith 120,000,000 - 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

The Remuneration Report is set out under the following main headings: 

A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 
B Service agreements 
C Details of remuneration 
D Share-based compensation 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308 (3C) of the Corporations Act 
2001.  

The remuneration arrangements detailed in this report relate to the following Directors and key management personnel as 
follows: 

Mr James Newbury (Managing Director and Executive Chairman, appointed 28 May 2021) 

Mr Bryan Duncan (Executive Director, appointed 28 May 2021) 

Mr Grant Ferguson (Executive Director, appointed 28 May 2021) 

Mr Ranko Matic  (Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary) 

Mr Stephen Ross (Non-Executive Director, appointed 28 May 2021) 

Mr Alastair Smith (Non-Executive Director, appointed 12 July 2021) 

Mr Rex Littlewood (Managing Director and Chairman, resigned 28 May 2021) 

Mr Chris Thoroughgood  (Non-Executive Director, resigned 28 May 2021) 

 

The following table shows the gross revenue, profits/losses and share price of the Company at the end of the respective 
financial period.    

 
30 June 2021 

$ 
30 June 2020 

$ 
30 June 2019 

$ 
30 June 2018 

$ 
30 June 2017 

$ 

Revenue from continuing operations 149 627 146,748 956 8,629 

Net profit/(loss) after tax 8,174,098 (7,141,983) (1,905,589) (12,461,678) (2,699,746) 

Share price 0.4 cents 0.2 cents 0.3 cents 0.4 cents 0.7 cents 

A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

In determining competitive remuneration rates, the Board, acting in its capacity as the remuneration committee, seeks 
independent advice on local and international trends among comparative companies and industry generally. It examines terms 
and conditions for employee incentive schemes benefit plans and share plans. Independent advice should be obtained to 
confirm that executive remuneration is in line with market practice and is reasonable in the context of Australian executive 
reward practices. 
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The Board recognises that East Energy Resources Limited operates in a global environment. To prosper in this environment we 
must attract, motivate and retain key executive staff. 

Market comparisons 

Consistent with attracting and retaining talented executives, the board endorses the use of incentive and bonus payments. The 
board will continue to seek external advice to ensure reasonableness in remuneration scale and structure, and to compare the 
Company’s position with the external market. The impact and high cost of replacing senior employees and the competition for 
talented executives requires the committee to reward key employees when they deliver consistently high performance. 

Board remuneration 

Shareholders approve the maximum aggregate remuneration for non-executive directors currently $220,000 per annum. The 
Board determines actual payments to directors and reviews their remuneration annually based, on independent external advice 
with regard to market practice, relativities, and the duties and accountabilities of directors. A review of directors’ remuneration is 
conducted annually to benchmark overall remuneration including retirement benefits.  

The employment conditions of all directors and executives are formalised in contracts of employment or letters of appointment, 
when such an arrangement is considered appropriate. The Chief Financial Officer appointed December 2007, is a permanent 
employee of East Energy Resources Limited.  

Performance based remuneration  

The Company currently has no performance based remuneration component built into director and executive remuneration 
packages.  

Group performance, shareholder wealth and directors and executives remuneration 

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase the direct positive relationship between shareholders investment 
objectives and directors and executives’ performance. Currently, directors and executives are encouraged to hold shares in the 
Company to ensure the alignment of personal and shareholder interests. The Company currently does not offer performance 
based remuneration during the exploration phase of operations. This policy may change once the exploration phase is complete 
and the Company is generating revenue. At present, the existing policy is not impacted by the Group’s performance, including 
earnings and changes in shareholder wealth. 

B. Service agreements 

Employment contracts of directors and senior executives 

The employment conditions of the Managing Director, Mr James Newbury, is formalised in an appointment letter with no fixed 
term and continues until any meeting at which Mr James Newbury is not re-elected as a Director by the shareholders of the 
Company or otherwise ceases in accordance with the Constitution.  

 

The following remuneration and terms have been formalised for the three executive new directors appointed on 28 May 2021: 

 Mr James Newbury – employment conditions were formalised in an appointment letter with no fixed term and continues 
to remain as Managing Director until any meeting at which Mr James Newbury is not re-elected as a Director by the 
shareholders of the Company or otherwise ceases in accordance with the Constitution. Remuneration is a base fee of 
$360,000 per annum plus superannuation. These fees are conditional upon a successful capital raising for a minimum 
of $3 million that is approved by the ASX. Fees will not accrue or be payable prior to this capital raising. 

 Mr Bryan Duncan – employment conditions were formalised in an appointment letter with no fixed term and continues 
to remain as Executive Director until any meeting at which Mr Bryan Duncan is not re-elected as a Director by the 
shareholders of the Company or otherwise ceases in accordance with the Constitution.  Remuneration is a base fee of 
$240,000 per annum plus superannuation. These fees are conditional upon a successful capital raising for a minimum 
of $3 million that is approved by the ASX. Fees will not accrue or be payable prior to this capital raising. 

 Mr Grant Ferguson – employment conditions were formalised in an appointment letter with no fixed term and continues 
to remain as Executive Director until any meeting at which Mr Grant Ferguson is not re-elected as a Director by the 
shareholders of the Company or otherwise ceases in accordance with the Constitution.  Remuneration is a base fee of 
$240,000 per annum plus superannuation. These fees are conditional upon a successful capital raising for a minimum 
of $3 million that is approved by the ASX. Fees will not accrue or be payable prior to this capital raising. 

Mr Matic, Mr Ross and Mr Smith are not employed on formal contracts. 
 
The employment conditions of the former Managing Director, Mr Rex Littlewood, was formalised in an executive service 
agreement with no fixed term and continues until a party terminates it by giving notice. Any party could terminate the agreement 
by providing 1 months’ notice.  The Company could also terminate the agreement summarily, and without notice or 
compensation, in circumstances of serious misconduct or breach by the Executive.  Upon termination, the Executive was 
subject to a 12 month non-competition covenant, whereby the Executive must not: engage in, directly or indirectly, through any 
person in an enterprise, company or firm; or carry on a substantially similar activity to that of the Company's business.  The 
Executive was also subject to covenants prohibiting the solicitation of Company personnel. 
 
Mr Thoroughgood was not employed on a formal contract.  
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C. Details of remuneration  

The remuneration for each director and each executive officer of the Company during the year was as follows: 

2021        

Key 

Management  

 

 

Person 

Short-term Benefits 
Post- 

employment 

Benefits 

Other 

Long-term 

Benefits 

Share based 

Payment    

 

Cash, salary & 

Commissions 

Cash 

Profit 

Share 

Non-Cash  

Benefit Other 

Super- 

annuation Other Equity Options Total 

Performanc

e Related 

Remuneration 

Consisting of 

Options 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % % 

Rex Littlewood (i) 133,146 - - - - - - - 133,146 - - 

Ranko Matic (iii) - - - 54,000 - - - - 54,000 - - 

Chris Thoroughgood (i) 

(i) 

31,937 - - - 3,034 - - - 34,971 - - 

James Newbury (ii) - - - - - - - - - - - 

Bryan Duncan (ii) - - - - - - - - - - - 

Grant Ferguson (ii) - - - - - - - - - - - 

Stephen Ross (ii) - - - - - - - - - - - 

Alastair Smith (iv) - - - - - - - - - - - 

 165,083 - - 54,000 3,034 - - - 222,117 - - 

 
(i) Resigned 28 May 2021. 
(ii) Appointed 28 May 2021. Fees are conditional upon a successful capital raising for a minimum of $3 million that is approved by the ASX. Fees will not accrue or be 

payable prior to this capital raising. 
(iii) Ranko Matic is a director and shareholder of Consilium Corporate Pty Ltd (Consilium). Consilium was paid $54,000 in relation to directorship, corporate secretarial 

and accounting services performed. 
(iv) Appointed 12 July 2021. Fees are conditional upon successful capital raising for a minimum of $3 million that is approved by the ASX. Fees will not accrue or be 

payable prior to this capital raising. 
 
 

2020        

Key 

Management  

 

 

Person 

Short-term Benefits 
Post- 

employment 

Benefits 

Other 

Long-term 

Benefits 

Share based 

Payment    

 Cash, salary 

& 

Commissions 

Cash 

Profit 

Share 

Non-Cash  

Benefit Other 

Super- 

annuation Other Equity Options Total 

Performance 

Related 

Remuneration 

Consisting of 

Options 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ % % 

Rex Littlewood  145,250 - - - - - - - 145,250 - - 

Ranko Matic (i) - - - 54,000 - - - - 54,000 - - 

Chris Thoroughgood (i) 34,840 - - - 3,310 - - - 38,150 - - 

 180,090 - - 54,000 3,310 - - - 237,400 - - 

 
(i) Ranko Matic is a director and shareholder of Consilium Corporate Pty Ltd (Consilium). Consilium was paid $54,000 in relation to directorship, corporate secretarial 

and accounting services performed. 
 

 
D. Share-based compensation 

Shares Issued on Exercise of Compensation Options 

No options granted as compensation in prior periods were exercised, forfeited or lapsed through the year. 

Options issued as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

No options were issued in the year ended 30 June 2021.  

There is not currently a formal Employee Share Option Plan in place. 

Options may be issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration. The options are not issued based on 
performance criteria, but are issued to the majority of directors and executives of East Energy Resources Limited to increase 
congruence between executives, directors and shareholders. 

Remuneration consultants 

Remuneration Consultants were not used by East Energy Resources in the current year or prior years. 

Voting of remuneration report at 2020 Annual General Meeting 

At the 30 November 2020 Annual General Meeting, the 2020 Remuneration Report was voted for, without any commentary or 
discussion, on a show of hands with proxy votes for of 2,990,491,958 (99.99%) and 43,000 votes against (0.01%). 
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END OF AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT. 
 
 
 Meetings of directors 

During the financial year, there was one official board meeting of the directors (including committees of directors) held, with the 
majority of business undertaken by circular resolution. Attendances by each director during the year were as follows: 
 Directors’ Meetings 

Directors 
Number eligible 

to attend 
Number 

Attended 

Rex Littlewood 1 1 
Chris Thoroughgood 1 1 
Ranko Matic  1 1 
James Newbury - - 
Bryan Duncan - - 
Grant Ferguson - - 
Stephen Ross - - 
Alastair Smith - - 

The full board fulfils the role of remuneration, nomination and audit committees. 

Indemnifying officers or auditor 

In accordance with the constitution, except as may be prohibited by the Corporations Act 2001, every Officer of the Consolidated 
Group shall be indemnified out of the property of the Company against any liability incurred by him in his capacity as Officer, 
auditor or agent of the Consolidated group or any related corporation in respect of any act or omission whatsoever and 
howsoever occurring or in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal. The total amount of insurance contract 
premiums paid is $42,946 (2020: $37,345). 

Options 

At the date of this report, there are no unissued ordinary shares of East Energy Limited under option. 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2021 there were no options granted, exercised or lapsed. 

Proceedings on behalf of group 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any proceedings to which 
the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or any part of these proceedings. 

The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

Non-audit services 

The board of directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services 
during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the 
following reasons: 

 all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement to ensure they do not 
adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence as set 
out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

No fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the financial year ended 30 June 2021 (2020: 
nil). 
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Auditor’s independence declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 23 for the year 
ended 30 June 2021. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 

JAMES NEWBURY 

Managing Director and Executive Chairman 

 

Dated this 5th day of August 2021 
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The Board of East Energy Resources Limited (“EER”) (“the Company”) and the entity it controls (“the Group”) is responsible for 

the corporate governance of the Group.  The Group has established a corporate governance framework which includes policies, 

procedures, charters and systems of control and accountability as the basis for the administration of corporate governance.  

This Corporate Governance Statement outlines the key principles and practices of the Group against the ASX Corporate 

Governance Principles and Recommendations 4th Edition (“Recommendations”). EER’s Corporate Governance Statement can 

also be found in the Corporate Governance section of the Company Profile section on its website www.eastenergy.com.au.   

The Board sets out below its “if not why not” report in relation to those matters of corporate governance where the Group’s 

practices depart from the Recommendations.  As the Group’s activities develop in size, nature and scope, further consideration 

will be given by the Board to the implementation of additional corporate governance structures. 

 PRINCIPLE 1 – LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT 

 Recommendation East Energy Resources Ltd Current Practice 

1.1 A listed entity should have and disclosure a board 
charter setting out: 

(a) The respective roles and responsibilities of its 
board and management; and 

(b) those matters expressly reserved to the board 
and those delegated to management. 

Adopted 

The Directors have adopted a Board Charter which outlines the 
role of the Board.  Executive Service Agreements outline 
functions of the executive directors. Non-executive Director 
appointment letters outline the terms and conditions of non-
executive director appointments. As the Group recruits additional 
management, the roles and responsibilities of these persons will 
be considered and documented. 

1.2 A listed entity should: 

(a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing 
a director or senior executive or putting forward 
for election  for election as a director: and 

(b) provide security holders with all material 
information in its possession relevant to a 
decision on whether or not to elect or re-elect a 
director. 
 

Not Adopted/Adopted 

Recent appointments to the Board were adopted under a 
change of major shareholder transaction in May 2021.  The 
Company will undertake appropriate checks for any future 
director and senior executive appointments.  

Material information in relation to a director up for election is 
provided in the AGM Notice of Meeting including background, 
other material directorships, term and the Board’s consideration 
of them as independent director. 

1.3 A listed entity should have a written agreement with 
each director and senior executive setting out the 
terms of their appointment. 

Adopted 

All directors and senior executives have a written agreement 
with the Group setting out the terms of their appointments. 

1.4 The Company Secretary of a listed entity should be 
accountable directly to the board, through the chair, 
on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the 
board. 

Adopted 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

http://www.eastenergy.com.au/
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1.5 A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a diversity Policy; 

(b) through its board or a committee of the board 
set measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity in the composition of its board, senior 
executives and workforce generally; and 

(c) disclose in relation to each reporting period: 

1) the measurable objectives set for the period 
to achieve gender diversity; 

2)  the entity’s progress towards achieving 
those objectives; and 

3) either: 

A. the respective proportions of men and 
women on the board, in senior 
executive positions and across the 
whole workforce (including how the 
entity has defined “senior executive” for 
these purposes); or  

B. if entity is a ‘‘relevant employer” under 
the Workplace Gender Equality Act, the 
entity’s  most recent “Gender Equality 
Indicators”, as defined in and published 
under that Act. 

Not Adopted 

Previously the Board had determined that due to its nature and 
size of operations, a diversity policy and measurable gender 
diversity objectives would not be of great value to the Group.  
However a recent overhaul of the board and management and 
with new opportunities being developed, the Group anticipates it 
will develop and adopt a diversity policy within the new financial 
year. 

The Company makes the following disclosures regarding the 
proportion of women employed in the organisation: 

- Women on Board: 0% 
- Women in Senior Management: 25% 

- Women in whole organisation: 14% 

Senior management includes executives, directors and the CFO. 

  

1.6 

A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically 
evaluating the performance of the Board, its 
committees and individual directors; and 

(b) disclose for each reporting period, whether a 
performance evaluation has been undertaken in 
accordance with that process or in respect of 
that period. 

Not Adopted 

The Group has not yet established formal performance review 
process.  With the appointment of a new board and 
management in recent months, the Group is looking to develop 
this as a formal process in the current financial year. 

Currently this is done ad-hoc, as warranted. 

A performance review was not conducted within the reporting 
period. 
    

1.7 A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically 
evaluating the performance of its senior 
executives at least once every reporting period; 
and 

(b) disclose for each reporting period, whether a 
performance evaluation had been undertaken in 
accordance with that process during or in 
respect of that period. 

Not Adopted 
With the appointment of a new board and management in recent 
months, the Group is looking to develop this as a formal process 
in the 2021 financial year. 
A performance evaluation was not conducted within the reporting 
period. 
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 PRINCIPLE 2 – STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO BE EFFECTIVE AND ADD VALUE 

 Recommendation East Energy Limited Current Practice 

2.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a nomination committee which: 

(i) has at least three members, a majority of 
whom are independent directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent director;  

and disclose: 

(iii) the charter of the committee; 

(iv) the members of the committee; and  

(v) as at the end of each reporting period, the 
number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) If it does not have a nomination committee 
disclose that fact and the processes it employs 
to address board succession issues and to 
ensure that the board has the appropriate 
balance of skills, knowledge experience, 
independence and diversity to enable it to 
discharge its duties and responsibilities 
effectively. 

Not  Adopted 

The Group does not have a separate nomination committee and 
the full board will consider the matters and issues arising that 
would usually fall to the nomination committee in accordance 
with the Nomination Committee Charter.  The Group has 
adopted a Nomination Committee Charter setting out the board 
process to raise the issues that would otherwise be considered 
by the Nomination Committee.  The Board considers that at this 
stage, no efficiencies or other benefits would be gained by 
establishing a separate nomination committee. 

The Nomination Committee Charter is available on the 
Company’s website www.eastenergy.com.au  

 

2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose a board 
skills matrix setting out the mix of skills and diversity 
that the board currently has or is looking to achieve 
in its membership. 

Not Adopted 

The Group currently does not have a board skills matrix. With 
the recent changes to the composition to the Board and 
management, the Group is looking to review their Corporate 
Governance Framework which will include the development of a 
Board Skills Matrix. 

2.3 A listed entity should disclose: 
(a) the names of the directors considered by the 

board to be independent directors; 

(b) if a director has an interest, position, or 
relationship of the type as described in Box 2.3 
of the Recommendations (Factors relevant to 
assessing independence) but the board is of the 
opinion that it does not  compromise the 
independence of the director, nature of the 
interest, position or relationship in question and 
an explanation of why the board is of that 
opinion; and 

(c) the length of service of each director. 

(a) Ranko Matic – Independent 

(b) N/A 

(c) Ranko Matic - Appointed 13/7/2007 – 14 years 
 
  

2.4 A majority of the Board of a listed entity should be 
independent directors. 

Not Adopted.  
Only one member of the Board (Ranko Matic) is considered 
independent. 
The Group has recently changed the composition of the Board 
with six directors, only one of which is considered independent.   
The Board has been structured such that its composition and 
size will enable it to effectively discharge its responsibilities and 

http://www.eastenergy.com.au/
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duties in preparation for its planned future activities.  All  
directors have relevant industry experience and specific 
expertise relevant to the Group’s business and level of 
operations.  
The Board will review its composition as the Group’s operations 
evolve. 

2.5 The Chair of a Board of a listed entity should be an 
independent director and, in particular, should not be 
the same person as the CEO of the entity. 

Not Adopted. 
The Company has recently changed the majority of the 
composition of the Board due to a change in the controlling 
shareholder.  Mr James Newbury assumed the role of the 
outgoing Managing Director/Chairman.  This will be reviewed in 
the future, however currently, Mr Newbury is deemed the most 
appropriate person for the position as Chairman because of his 
experience and knowledge of the intended future operations and 
projects. 
Mr Newbury is the Managing Director and Chairman.  This will 
be reviewed in the future as the operations of the Group evolves. 

2.6 A listed entity should have a program for inducting 
new directors and for periodically reviewing whether 
there is a need for existing directors to undertake 
professional development to maintain the skills and 
knowledge needed to perform their role as directors 
effectively. 

Adopted. 
The induction of new directors is currently completed by the 
Company Secretary.  All Directors have access to professional 
development opportunities to improve on their skills and 
knowledge to assist in their roles as directors.  

 

 PRINCIPLE 3 – INSTIL A CULTURE OF ACTING LAWFULLY, ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY 

 Recommendation East Energy Limited Current Practice 

3.1 A listed entity should articulate and disclose its 
values. 

Not Adopted. 

The Group is yet to articulate its values. 

3.2 A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose a code of conduct for its 

directors, senior executives and employees; and 
(b) ensure that the board or a committee of the 

board is informed of any material breaches of 
that code. 

Adopted. 

Copy of Code of Conduct is published on the Company’s 
website and available at www.easteneergy.com.au  

3.3 A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose a Whistleblower policy; and 
(b) ensure that the board or a committee of the 

board is informed of any material incidents 
reported under that policy. 

Adopted 

The Whistleblower Policy is published on the Company’s website 
and available at www.eastenergy.com.au 

The Board is informed of any material incidences reported under 
this policy. 

3.4 A listed entity should: 
(a) have and disclose an anti-bribery and corruption 

policy; and 
(b) ensure that the board or a committee of the 

board is informed of any material incidents 
reported under that policy. 

Not Adopted  

The Group does not have an anti-bribery and corruption policy 
due to its current operations.  The Company will continue to 
review this position and develop an anti-bribery policy at some 
point in the future.  

 

 PRINCIPLE 4 – SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY OF CORPORATE REPORTS 

 Recommendation East Energy Limited Current Practice 

4.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have an audit committee which: 

(i) has at least 3 members, all of whom are 
non-executive directors and a majority of 
whom are independent directors; and 

(ii) is chaired by an independent director, who 
is not the chair of the board;  

and disclose: 
(iii) the charter of the committee 
(iv) the relevant qualifications and experience 

of the members of the committee; and 
(v) in relation to each reporting period, the 

number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 

Not Adopted 

The role of the audit committee is currently undertaken by the 
full Board.  The Group has adopted an Audit Committee Charter 
which is published on the Company’s website 
www.eastenergy.com.au.  The Charter sets out the board 
process to raise the issues that would otherwise be considered 
by the Audit Committee.  The Board considers that at this stage, 
no efficiencies or other benefits would be gained by establishing 
a separate audit committee. 

http://www.easteneergy.com.au/
http://www.eastenergy.com.au/
http://www.eastenergy.com.au/
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attendances of the member at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have an audit committee, disclose 
that fact and the processes it employs that 
independently verify and safeguard the integrity 
of its corporate reporting, including the 
processes for the appointment and removal of 
the external auditor and the rotation of the audit 
engagement partner. 

4.2 The board of a listed entity should, before it 
approves the entity’s financial statements for a 
financial period, receive from its CEO and CFO a 
declaration that, in their opinion, the financial 
records of the entity have been properly maintained 
and that the financial statements comply with the 
appropriate accounting standards and give a true 
and fair view of the financial position and 
performance of the entity and that the opinion has 
been formed on the basis of a sound system of risk 
management and internal control which is operating 
effectively. 

Adopted 
 
 

4.3 A listed entity should disclose its process to verify 
the integrity of any periodic corporate report it 
releases to the market that is not audited or 
reviewed by an external auditor. 
 

Any unaudited periodic reports published by the Company 
benefit from several layers of review and checking, including 
review by the Company Secretary, an ex-auditor. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 PRINCIPLE 5 – MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE 

 Recommendation East Energy Limited Current Practice 

5.1 A listed entity should have and disclose a written 
policy for complying with its continuous disclosure 
obligations under the listing rule 3.1. 

Adopted. 

The Group has a Continuous Disclosure Policy which is 
published on the Company website www.eastenergy.com.au 

5.2 A listed entity should ensure that its board receives 
a copy of all material market announcements 
promptly after they have been made. 

Adopted. 

 

5.3  A listed entity that gives new substantive investor or 
analyst presentation should release a copy of the 
presentation materials on the ASX Market 
Announcements Platform ahead of the presentation. 

Adopted 

 

 

 PRINCIPLE 6 – RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

 Recommendation  East Energy Limited Current Practice 

6.1 A listed entity should provide information about itself 
and its governance to investors via its website. 

Adopted 

Refer to the Company’s Corporate Governance page on its 
website www.eastenergy.com.au 

6.2 A listed entity should have an investor relations 
program to facilitate effective two-way 
communication with investors. 

Adopted 

The Company has a Shareholder Communication Policy which is 

http://www.eastenergy.com.au/
http://www.eastenergy.com.au/
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published on its website www.eastenergy.com.au 

6.3 A listed entity should disclose that it facilitates and 
encourages participation at meetings of security 
holders. 

The Company encourages participation at General Meetings 
upon the dispatch of its Notice of Meeting and advises security 
holders that they may submit questions they would like to be 
asked at the meeting to the Board and to the Group’s auditors. 

6.4 A listed entity should ensure that all substantive 
resolutions at a meeting of security holders are 
decided by a poll rather than a show of hands. 

Adopted 
 
 

6.5 A listed entity should give security holders the option 
to receive communications from, and send 
communications to, the entity and its security 
registry electronically. 

Adopted. 

Welcome packs to all new shareholders provides these options 
to receive communications electronically.  This option is also 
available to existing shareholders upon contacting the share 
registry. 

 

 PRINCIPLE 7 – RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 

 Recommendation  East Energy Limited Current Practice 

7.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a committee or committees to oversee 

risk, each of which:  
(i) has at least three members, a majority of 

whom are independent directors; and  
(ii) is chaired by an independent director,   

  and disclose:  
(iii) the charter of the committee;  
(iv) the members of the committee; and  
(v) as at the end of each reporting period, the 

number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or 
committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose that 
fact and the processes it employs for 
overseeing the entity’s risk management 
framework. 

Not Adopted 

The Group does not currently have a Risk Committee.  The role 
of a risk committee is undertaken by the whole Board.  The 
Board follows the risk management program as published on the 
Company’s website www.eastenergy.com.au  The Board has 
considered the material risks impacting the Company and its 
Shares.  

Key risks impacting the Group will be reviewed and considered 
by management and the Board on a regular basis 
 
 
 
 

7.2 The board or a committee of the board should: 
(a) review the entity’s risk management framework 

at least annually to satisfy itself that it continues 
to be sound and that the entity is operating with 
due regard to the risk appetite set by the board; 
and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, 
whether such a review has taken place. 

Adopted. 

The Board reviews risk on a regular basis with following policies 
and procedures forming part of the Group’s Risk Management 
Framework: 

 Audit Committee Charter 

 Risk Management Program 

A review has not taken place in the reporting period. 

http://www.eastenergy.com.au/
http://www.eastenergy.com.au/
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7.3 A listed entity should disclose: 
(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the 

function is structured and what role it performs; 
or 

(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that 
fact and the processes it employs for evaluating 
and continually improving the effectiveness of 
its governance, risk management and internal 
control processes. 

The Group does not have a structured formalised internal audit 
function, however historically the Board has reviewed the 
internal control systems and risk management policies on an 
annual basis.   

Internal controls are reviewed on an annual basis during the 
annual audit process. 

7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it has any 
material exposure to environmental or social risks 
and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage 
those risks. 

The Group currently does not have any material exposure to 
environmental or social risks.   

The Group does not have an Environmental, Social and 
Governance policy, but intends to review this in the short term.  

 

 PRINCIPLE 8 – REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY 

 Recommendation  East Energy Limited Current Practice 

8.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a remuneration committee which:  

1) has at least three members, a majority of 
whom are independent directors; and  

2) is chaired by an independent director,  
and disclose:  

3) the charter of the committee;  
4) the members of the committee; and  
5) as at the end of each reporting period, the 

number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings;  or 

(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, 
disclose that fact and the processes it employs 
for setting the level and composition of 
remuneration for directors and  senior 
executives and ensuring that such remuneration 
is appropriate and not excessive. 

Not Adopted. 

The Group does not have a Remuneration Committee. 

The role of the remuneration committee is currently undertaken 
by the full Board.  The Group has adopted a Remuneration 
Committee Charter which is published on the Company’s 
website www.eastenergy.com.au.  The Board follows the 
Remuneration Committee Charter which provides for dealing 
with board remuneration issues. 

 

8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose its policies 
and practices regarding the remuneration of non-
executive directors and the remuneration of 
executive directors and other senior executives. 

Adopted. 

This information is contained within the Remuneration Report of 
the Annual Report.  Setting remuneration for executives is set 
out in the Remuneration Committee Charter. 

8.3 A listed entity which has an equity-based 
remuneration scheme should: 
(a) have a policy on whether participants are 

permitted to enter into transactions (whether 
through the use of derivatives or otherwise) 
which limit the economic risk of participating in 
the scheme; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

Not Applicable 
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To The Board of Directors 

 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

 

 

As lead audit director for the audit of the financial statements of East Energy Resources Limited and Controlled Entity for 

the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions 

of: 

 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

 

• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

 

 

CRITERION AUDIT PTY LTD  ELIZABETH LOUWRENS CA 

Chartered Accountants   Director 

 

 

 

DATED at PERTH this 5th day of August 2021 
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 Notes 

2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

    

Interest income 4 149 627 

Other income 13 2,231,077 - 

    

Accounting fees  (6,500) - 

Audit fees 3 (17,000) (18,000) 

Insurance  (43,287) (46,098) 

Directors and employee benefits  (206,188) (215,418) 

Impairment loss of exploration assets 10 (130,214) (6,627,545) 

Reversal of impairment loss of exploration assets 10 6,627,545 - 

Other expenses  (116,380) (79,647) 

Interest expense  (165,104) (156,402) 

    

Profit/(loss) before income tax   8,174,098 (7,141,983) 

    

Income tax (expense)/benefit 5 - - 

    

Net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the group  8,174,098 (7,141,983) 

    

Other comprehensive income  - - 

    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 

    

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to the 
members of the consolidated group  8,174,098 (7,141,983) 

    

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) for profit/(loss) 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company 6(d) 0.26 (0.22) 

    

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) for profit/(loss) 
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company 6(d) 0.26 (0.22) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial accounts 
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 Notes 

2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 

    

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 159,586 807,693 

Trade and other receivables 8 7,627 5,767 

Other assets 9 55,443 36,794 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  222,656 850,254 

    

NON CURRENT ASSETS    

Tenement works bonds  29,500 29,500 

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure 10 12,423,548 5,700,000 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  12,453,048 5,729,500 

TOTAL ASSETS  12,675,704 6,579,754 

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 11 12,493 25,427 

Provisions 12 2,848 2,089 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  15,341 27,516 

    

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Borrowings 13 - 2,065,973 

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES  - 2,065,973 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  15,341 2,093,489 

    

NET ASSETS  12,660,363 4,486,265 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 14 86,901,419 86,901,419 

Accumulated losses  (74,241,056) (82,415,154) 

TOTAL EQUITY  12,660,363 4,486,265 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial accounts 



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

 

 

EAST ENERGY RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 66 126 371 828   26 
 

 
 

Issued Capital 
Accumulated 

Losses Total Equity 

 $ $ $ 

Balance as at 1 July 2019 86,901,419 (75,273,171) 11,628,248 

    
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (7,141,983) (7,141,983) 
    

Balance at 30 June 2020 86,901,419 (82,415,154) 4,486,265 

 
 

    
Balance as at 1 July 2020 86,901,419 (82,415,154) 4,486,265 

    
Total comprehensive income for the year - 8,174,098 8,174,098 
    

Balance at 30 June 2021 86,901,419 (74,241,056) 12,660,363 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial accounts 
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 Notes 

2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

    

Interest received  149 627 

Other receipts  - - 

Payments to suppliers and other expenses  (424,834) (336,224) 

Payments for exploration, evaluation and development  (223,422) (213,718) 

    

Net cash outflows from operating activities 18(b) (648,107) (549,315) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

    

Net proceeds from borrowings   - 500,000 

    

Net cash inflows from financing activities  - 500,000 

    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (648,107) (49,315) 

Effect of movement in exchange rates on cash held  - - 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July   807,693 857,008 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 18(a) 159,586 807,693 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these consolidated financial accounts 



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 

 

 

EAST ENERGY RESOURCES LIMITED 
ABN 66 126 371 828   28 
 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

This consolidated financial report includes the financial statements and notes of East Energy Resources Limited and its 

controlled entity (the “consolidated group” or “group”).  These principal accounting policies have been consistently applied to all 

years presented, unless otherwise stated.  

 

It is recommended that this financial report be read in conjunction with any public announcements made by East Energy 

Resources Limited during the period in accordance with continuous disclosure requirements arising under the Corporations Act 

2001. 

a. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements is a general purpose financial statement that has been prepared in accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board 

and the Corporations Act 2001. 

The financial statements of East Energy Resources Limited also comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Boards (IASB).  East Energy Resources 

Limited is a for-profit entity for the purposes of preparing the financial statements. 

The financial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 5 August 2021. 

b. Comparatives 

When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 

presentation for the current financial year. 

c. Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent, East Energy 

Resources Ltd and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured entities). Subsidiaries are entities the parent 

controls. The parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 

with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 19 to the financial statements. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between entities in the 

consolidated group have been eliminated on consolidation.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 

where necessary to ensure consistency with those adopted by the parent entity. 

d. Asset acquisition 

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, 

the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group.  The consideration transferred also include the fair 

value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-

existing equity interest in the subsidiary.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.  Identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities and continent liabilities assumed in an asset acquisition are, with limited exceptions, measure 

initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.  On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any 

non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 

acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 
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NOTE 1.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

The excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the 

fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as deferred exploration expenditure.  If those amounts 

are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, and the measurement of all 

amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to 

their present value as at the date of exchange.  The discount rate used is the group’s incremental borrowing rate, 

being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms 

and conditions. 

e. Income tax 

The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non-assessable or 

disallowed items. It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are substantially enacted by the 

Statement of Financial Position date. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. No deferred income tax will be 

recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no 

effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.  

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 

liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income except 

where it relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly 

against equity. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available 

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  The amount of benefits brought to account or which 

may be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation 

legislation and the anticipation that the economic group will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the 

benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law. 

Tax consolidation 

East Energy Resources Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiary have formed an income tax consolidated 

group under the tax consolidation legislation. Each entity in the Group recognises its own current and deferred tax 

liabilities, except for any deferred tax liabilities resulting from unused tax losses and tax credits, which are 

immediately assumed by the parent entity. The group notified the Australian Tax Office that it had formed an income 

tax consolidated group to apply from 10 May 2013. The tax consolidated group has entered a tax sharing agreement  

whereby each company in the group contributes to the income tax payable in proportion to their contribution to the 

net profit before tax of the tax consolidated group. 
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NOTE 1.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

f. Going concern  

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 

business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 

The Group produced a net profit after tax for the year of $8,174,098 with net cash outflow of $648,107.  As at 30 June 

2021, the Company had a working capital surplus of $207,315. The net profit after tax for the year of $8,174,098 

included the reversal of capitalised exploration expenditure impairment of $6,627,545 and the forgiveness of a related 

party loan of $2,231,077. 

The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is principally dependent upon the ability of the Company to 

secure funds by raising capital and managing cashflow in line with available funds.   

The Directors believe that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and consolidated entity will 

continue as a going concern, after consideration of the following factors: 

o In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, the Company has plans to raise further working capital through 

the issue of equity during the financial year 2022; and 

o The consolidated entity continues to reduce costs in order to conserve cash reserves for the financial year 

2022 and will continue to actively seek assets, investments and businesses that have the potential to 

generate additional shareholder value. 

Accordingly, the Directors believe that the Company and consolidated entity will be able to continue as going concern 

and that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial report.   

Should the directors not achieve the matters set out above, there is significant uncertainty whether the Company and 

consolidated entity will continue as going concerns and therefore whether they will realise their assets and extinguish 

their liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.  

The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the amounts or classification of recorded assets or 

liabilities that might be necessary if the company and consolidated entity are not able to continue as going concern. 

g. Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure 

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of 

interest.  These costs are only carried forward where the right of tenure of the area of interest is current and they are 

expected to be recouped through successful development on the area or where activities in the area have not yet 

reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. The 

ultimate recoupment of capitalised exploration, evaluation and development expenditure is dependant upon the final 

approval of exploration permits.  

Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the 

decision to abandon the area is made. 

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the life of 

the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. A regular review is undertaken 

of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area 

of interest. 
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NOTE 1.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

h. Financial instruments 

Financial assets – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

At initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 

other comprehensive income (OCI) or fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

Trade and other receivables have been measured at amortised cost. As there is no significant financing component, 

these have been measured at cost and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 

when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 

Financial liabilities – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

At initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 

amortised cost, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of those measured at amortised cost, net of 

directly attributable transaction costs. 

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Trade and other payables and borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 

and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective 

interest method amortisation process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 

an integral part of the effective interest. The effective interest amortisation is included as finance costs in the 

statement of profit or loss. 

Impairment  

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset has been 

impaired. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, impairments are included within the profit or loss.  

i. Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 

whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the 

asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

j. Provisions 

Provision for employee entitlements include leave entitlements. These are recognised when the Group has a legal or 

constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 

result and that outflow can be reliably measured.   
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NOTE 1.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

k. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of 12 months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 

short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

l. Revenue and other income 

Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the financial 

assets. 

Other income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

m. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a 

substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such 

time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in income in the period in which they are incurred. 

n. Goods and services tax (“GST”) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred 

is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (“ATO”).  In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of 

the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  Receivables and payables in the statement 

of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 

statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising 

from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating 

cash flows. 

o. Share-based payment transactions 

The fair value of options granted by East Energy Resources Limited is recognised as an expense with a 

corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during 

which the option holder becomes unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value at grant date is independently 

determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the 

option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradable nature of the option, the share 

price at grant date and the expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free 

rate for the term of the option. 
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NOTE 1.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued 

p. Trade and other payables 

Trade payables and other payables are carried at cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 

Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future 

payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services.  The amounts are unsecured and usually paid 

within 30 days of recognition. 

q. Trade and other receivables 

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for 

doubtful debts.  Current receivables for GST are due for settlement within 30 days and other current receivables 

within 12 months. 

r. Issued capital 

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Group. Any transaction 

costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds 

received. 

s. Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, has been identified as the Board of Directors. 

t. Earnings per share 

(i) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, 

excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued 

during the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take 

into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 

ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 

consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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NOTE 1.    SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 

u. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

In preparing this Financial Report the Group has been required to make certain estimates and assumptions 

concerning future occurrences. There is an inherent risk that the resulting accounting estimates will not equate 

exactly with actual events and results. 

v. Significant accounting judgements 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has the following judgements, apart from 

those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements: 

Capitalisation of exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The Group has capitalised significant exploration and evaluation expenditure on the basis either that this is 

expected to be recouped through future successful development (or alternatively sale) of the areas of interest 

concerned or on the basis that it is not yet possible to assess whether it will be recouped. 

Deferred tax assets 

The Group expects to have carried forward tax losses which have not been recognised as deferred tax assets 

as it is not considered sufficiently probable that these losses will be recouped by means of future profits 

taxable in the relevant jurisdictions. 

w. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 

The carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 

future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of 

factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully 

recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale. 

Factors that could impact the future recoverability include the level of reserves and resources, future 

technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates, future legal changes (including 

changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices. 

The Company arranged for an internal valuation for management purposes by an external third-party 

consultant in March 2021 and the valuation range was $10.3m to $13.7m with a preferred value of $12m for 

the exploration assets. The Board has performed an internal assessment of this valuation for the period, and 

noted the improved market conditions, including the price of thermal coal increasing from US$52.21/t in June 

2020 to US$129.37/t in June 2021. 

The Company has determined that it was appropriate to reverse the impairment that was recognised during 

the 30 June 2020 financial year of $6,627,545, to reinstate the asset to its current value of $12.4m. 
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NOTE 2. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

a. Names and positions held of group key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year 
are:  

James Newbury (Managing Director and Executive Chairman, appointed 28 May 2021) 

Bryan Duncan (Executive Director, appointed 28 May 2021) 

Grant Ferguson (Executive Director, appointed 28 May 2021) 

Ranko Matic  (Non-Executive Director and Company Secretary) 

Stephen Ross (Non-Executive Director, appointed 28 May 2021) 

Rex Littlewood (Managing Director and Chairman, resigned 28 May 2021) 

Chris Thoroughgood  (Non-Executive Director, resigned 28 May 2021) 

 

Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors 
Report. 

b. Key management personnel compensation 

 2021         2020       

 $   $            

Short-term employee benefits 219,083 234,090 

Post-employment benefits 3,034 3,310 

Long-term benefits - - 

Termination benefits - - 

Share-based payments - - 

 222,117 237,400 

c. Number of Options Held by Key Management Personnel 

There were no options held by Key Management Personnel over the last two financial years. 

d. Number of Shares Held by Key Management Personnel 

Key Management Person Balance 
1.7.2020 

Received as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Net Change 
Other (i) 

Balance 
30.6.2021 

Balance  
Nominally Held 

James Newbury - - - 2,990,419,558 2,990,419,558 2,990,419,558 

Bryan Duncan - - - - - - 

Grant Ferguson - - - - - - 

Stephen Ross - - - - - - 

Rex Littlewood - - - - - - 

Ranko Matic 220,000 - - - 220,000 220,000 

Chris Thoroughgood  - - - - - - 

 220,000 - - 2,990,419,558 2,990,639,558 2,990,639,558 

                                                       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      
(i) Balance upon appointment on 28 May 2021. 

 

 

 

 

      
Key Management Person Balance 

1.7.2019 
Received as 

Compensation 
Options 

Exercised 
Net Change 

Other 
Balance 

30.6.2020 
Balance  

Nominally Held 

Rex Littlewood - - - - - - 

Ranko Matic 220,000 - - - 220,000 220,000 

Chris Thoroughgood  - - - - - - 

 220,000 - - - 220,000 220,000 
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NOTE 2.    KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION – continued 

e. Other transactions with key management personnel 

Ranko Matic is a director and shareholder of Consilium Corporate Advisory Pty Ltd which provides directorship, 
corporate secretarial and accounting services performed as disclosed in the Remuneration Report. 

 Consolidated 

 

2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 

Directorship, company secretarial and accounting services  54,000 54,000 

Outstanding balance at year end - - 

 

NOTE 3. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 
2021 2020 

Remuneration of the auditor for: $ $ 

Auditing or reviewing the financial report 17,000 18,000 

 17,000 18,000 

 

  

 2021 2020 

NOTE 4. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME $ $ 

Revenue   

Interest received 149 627 

 149 627 

 
 

  2021 2020 

NOTE 5. INCOME TAX  $ $ 

(a)     Income tax expense    

Current tax  - - 

Deferred tax  - - 

  - - 

    

Deferred income tax expense included in income tax expense comprises:  
  

  (Increase) in deferred tax assets  - - 

   Increase in deferred tax liabilities  - - 

 

 - - 

(b)     Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable   
 The prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary activities before income tax 

is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows: 
 

 
 

Profit/(loss) before income tax  8,174,098 (7,141,983) 

Prima facie tax on operating profit/(loss) at 26% (2020: 27.5%)  2,125,265 (1,964,045) 

Add / (less)   
 

Tax effect of exploration expenditure  (58,090) 
 

(58,897) 
 

Tax effect of other  (51,824) 45,824 

Non-taxable income – reversal of impairment  (1,723,162) - 

Tax effect of exploration impairment  33,857 1,822,437 

Tax effect of deferred tax asset not brought to account  (326,046) 154,681 

Deferred tax asset not brought to account  - - 

Income tax attributable to operating loss  - - 

The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as follows:  Nil% Nil% 

Balance of franking account at year end  Nil Nil 

(c)     Deferred tax assets   
 

Tax losses  19,272,659 19,272,659 

Other  14,009 10,833 
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NOTE 5.   INCOME TAX– continued 

 

 Consolidated 

  2021 2020 

  $ $ 

  19,286,668 19,283,492 

Set-off deferred tax liabilities  - - 

Net deferred tax assets  19,286,668 19,283,492 

Less deferred tax assets not recognised  (19,286,668) (19,283,492) 

Net tax assets  
 

- - 

(d)     Deferred tax liabilities   
 

Exploration expenditure  - - 

Other  - - 

  - - 

Set-off deferred tax assets  - - 

Net deferred tax liabilities 
 

- - 

(e)     Tax losses   
 

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised  69,401,046 70,655,069 

 

Potential deferred tax assets attributable to tax losses and exploration expenditure carried forward have not been brought to 
account at 30 June 2021 because the directors do not believe it is appropriate to regard realisation of the deferred tax assets 
as probable at this point in time. These benefits will only be obtained if: 
i.     the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the 

deductions for the loss and exploration expenditure to be realised; 
ii.    the Group continues to comply with conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and 
iii.   no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit from the deductions for the loss and 

exploration expenditure. 

 
 NOTE 6. EARNINGS PER SHARE 2021 2020 

 $ $ 

(a) Earnings/(loss) used to calculate basic and diluted EPS 8,174,098 (7,141,983) 

   

 Number of 
Shares 

Number of 
Shares 

(b) Number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the year 3,200,987,035 3,200,987,035 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in 
calculating basic and diluted EPS 3,200,987,035 3,200,987,035 

   

(c) The following potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive and are therefore excluded 
from the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted 
earnings per share: Nil Nil 

   

 Cents Cents 

(d) Earnings/(loss) per share – basic 0.26 (0.22) 

     Earnings/(loss) per share – diluted 0.26 (0.22) 

 
 

 2021 2020 

NOTE 7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ $ 

Cash at bank 159,586 807,693 

 

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates 
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 Consolidated 

 2021 2020 

NOTE 8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES $    $       

Other receivables 7,627 5,767 

 

(a) Other receivables 

These transactions generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the group. The balance consists 

of receivables relating to refunds expected in relation to good and services tax and operating expense prepayments.  

(b) Ageing of receivables past due not impaired 

As at 30 June 2021 there were no receivables past due not impaired. 

(c) Ageing of impaired trade receivables  

As at 30 June 2021 there were no receivables impaired. 

NOTE 9. OTHER ASSETS 
2021 2020 

$    $       

Prepayments 
55,443 36,794 

 

NOTE 10.  EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE   

 2021 2020 

 $ $ 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 5,700,000 12,120,000 

Deferred exploration expenditure incurred during the period 226,217 207,545 

Impairment loss of exploration assets (130,214) (6,627,545) 

Reversal of impairment of tenement 6,627,545 - 

Carrying value at the end of the period  12,423,548 5,700,000 

 
The Company arranged an internal valuation for management purposes by an external third-party consultant of its exploration 

assets in March 2021. The valuation report provided a range of $10.3m to $13.7m with a preferred value of $12m for the 

exploration assets. The Board has performed an internal assessment of this valuation for the financial year which has resulted in 

a revised valuation of $12.4m. The Company therefore reversed the impairment of $6,627,545 for the financial year ended 30 

June 2021. 

The Group has included $Nil (2020: $Nil) of depreciation of property, plant and equipment in exploration expenditure for the 

period.   

The value of the Group’s interest in exploration expenditure is dependent upon the: 

 continuance of the economic entity rights to tenure of the areas of interest; 

 results of future exploration; and 

 recoupment of costs through successful development and exploitation of the areas of interest, or alternatively, by their    
sale. 

The economic entity exploration properties may be subjected to claim(s) under native title, or contain sacred sites, or sites of 

significance to Aboriginal people.  As a result, exploration properties or areas within the tenements may be subject to 

exploration restrictions, mining restrictions and/or claims for compensation.  At this time, it is not possible to quantify whether 

such claims exist, or the quantum of such claims. 
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 Consolidated 

 2021 2020 

NOTE 11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES $    $       

Trade payables 4,887 11,918 

Other payables 7,606 13,509 

 12,493 25,427 

  

 Consolidated 

NOTE 12. PROVISIONS  $    $    

Provision for long service leave 2,848 2,089 

 2,848 2,089 

 
 
NOTE 13. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Borrowings 

In July 2018, the Company received $400,000 from Noble Group Ltd (who had a 93.42% interest in the Company) by way of a 

loan to fund working capital.  Later in the period, the Company commenced discussions with Noble for a more formal 

arrangement to fund further working capital requirements and operational expenses of the Company. 

On 31 January 2019, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Noble Trading Co Limited (“Noble” who was part of the 

newly restructured Noble Group Holdings Limited and has a 93.42% interest in the Company). The Company received funding 

of A$1,355,000, which covers repayment of the previous $400,000 advance from Noble Group Ltd made in July 2018 and 

provided an additional $955,000 of funding to the Company for working capital purposes. 

In January 2020, the Company entered into a further loan agreement with Noble Trading Co Limited for a further $500,000. 

Key terms of the loan facilities included an interest rate of 9.8% p.a. with the repayment of the facility and all accrued interest to 

occur three years after the date of the Agreement.  The loan was unsecured. 

On 24 May 2021, the loan between Noble and the Company was forgiven and waived as part of the agreement between Noble 

and Axis Mining Ltd. Axis Minerals Pty Ltd acquired Maylion Pty Ltd which holds the Noble shareholding in the Company.  The 

Company was released from the debt owing to Noble, including any past and future obligations or any interest accrued thereon.  

 2021 

$ 

2020 

$ 
 $ $ 

Opening balance 2,065,973 1,409,571 

Drawings during the year - 500,000 

Accrued interest during the year 165,104 156,402 

Forgiveness of debt (2,231,077) - 

Total outstanding - 2,065,973 

 

NOTE 14. ISSUED CAPITAL 

  Consolidated 
  2021 

Number 
2020 

Number 
2021 

$ 
2020 
     $ 

(a) Share capital      
Ordinary shares      
Fully paid (b) 3,200,987,035 3,200,987,035 86,901,419 86,901,419 
      

Total issued capital  3,200,987,035 3,200,987,035 86,901,419 86,901,419 

      
(b)  Movements in ordinary shares      

There were no movements in ordinary shares during the year. 
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NOTE 14.    ISSUED CAPITAL - continued 

 
 

     
(c) Capital Risk Management      

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they 
may continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
  
 Due to the nature of the Group’s activities, being mineral exploration, the Group relies on funding through the issue of 

equity. The Group maintains focus on the Group’s current working capital position against the requirements of the Group to 
meet exploration programmes and corporate overheads. The Group’s strategy is to ensure appropriate liquidity is 
maintained to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a view of raising further working capital through the issue of 
equity. The working capital position of the Group at 30 June is as follows: 

 Consolidated 

 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Cash and cash equivalents 159,586 807,693 

Trade and other receivables 7,627 5,767 

Other assets 55,443 36,794 

Trade and other payables (12,493) (25,427) 

Provisions (2,848) (2,089) 

Working capital surplus 207,315 822,738 

 

NOTE 15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a) Parent entity 

The parent entity within the Group is East Energy Resources Ltd. 

(b) Entities exercising control over the Group 

The parent of the Group continues to remain as Maylion Pty Ltd with a 93.42% interest, incorporated in Australia. The 
ultimate parent entity that exercises control over the Group changed to Axis Minerals Pty Ltd, owned by James Newbury 
effective 28 May 2021. Subsequent to year end, Maylion Pty Ltd held 78.45% interest in the Group. 

Prior to 28 May 2021, the parent of the Group was Maylion Pty Ltd, incorporated in Australia, held 93.42% interest in the 
Group and the ultimate parent entity that exercises control over the Group was Noble Group Holdings Limited, which 
held a 93.42% interest in the Group and is incorporated in Bermuda. 

(c) Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 19. 

(d) Key management personnel 

Transactions relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 2. 

(e) Transactions with related parties 

During the period there have been no other transactions with related parties other than those set out in Note 2. 

NOTE 16. COMMITMENTS 

Tenement rental and expenditure commitments.   

The Group is required to maintain current rights of tenure to tenements, which require outlays of expenditure. A tenement will be 

liable to forfeiture if the expenditure conditions, specified within the terms of the grant are not complied with.  The Group has a 

100% share of tenements rental and expenditure commitments of: 

 Consolidated 

 2021 2020 

Payable: $ $ 

– not later than 12 months 197,368 202,916 

– between 12 months and 5 years 333,812 516,180 

– greater than 5 years - - 

 531,180 719,096 
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NOTE 17. DIVIDENDS  

The Group has not declared nor paid a dividend for the period. 

 

 Consolidated 

 2021 2020 

NOTE 18. CASH FLOW INFORMATION $ $ 

(a) Reconciliation of cash   

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:   

Cash 159,586 807,693 

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with operating profit/(loss) after income tax  

Operating profit/(loss) after income tax 8,174,098 (7,141,983) 

- Impairment (reversal) / loss of assets (6,627,545) 6,627,045 

- (Gain)/loss on foreign exchange - - 

Changes in assets and liabilities:   

- (Increase)/decrease in receivables (1,860) 201 

- (Increase)/decrease in other assets (114,653) (200,147) 

- Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (2,078,906) 164,810 

- Increase/(decrease) in provisions 759 759 

Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities (648,107) (549,315) 
 

NOTE 19. CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

Parent entity: 

East Energy Resources Ltd          Ownership Interest 

Subsidiary Country of  

 

incorporation 

Class of shares 2021 2020 

Idalia Coal Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100% 100% 

 

NOTE 20.   PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES  2021 2020 

(a)  Financial position       $     $    

Assets     

Current assets  222,656 850,254 

Non-current assets  12,453,048 5,729,500 

Total assets  12,675,704 6,579,754 

    
Liabilities    

Current liabilities  15,342 27,516 

Non-current liabilities  - 2,065,973 

Total liabilities  15,342 2,093,489 

    
Equity    

Contributed equity  86,901,419 86,901,419 

Retained (losses)  (74,241,056) (82,415,154) 

Total equity  12,660,363 4,486,265 

    (b)    Financial performance    

Profit/(loss) for the year  8,174,098 (7,141,983) 

Total comprehensive profit/ (loss)  8,174,098 (7,141,983) 

    (c)    Contingent liabilities of the parent entity    

There are no such contingencies.     
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NOTE 20.   PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES  2021 2020 

  $ $ 

(d)    Commitments of the parent entity    

Not longer than 1 year  141,409 136,409 

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  297,030 438,439 

Longer than 5 years  - - 

Total   438,439 574,848 

NOTE 21.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

On 12 July 2021 the Company announced the appointment of Mr. Alastair Smith as Non-Executive Director effective from 12 
July 2021. 

The Company continues to work through various commercial matters in relation to a possible recapitalisation and obtaining the 
necessary funds to provide for future activities. As a result the Company extended its ASX listing voluntary suspension on 31 
May 2021 to 31 August 2021. 

Whilst exploration activities have been able to continue, the impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing. It is not 
practical to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is continually developing 
and is dependent on measures imposed by Australian, Canadian and Ecuadorian Governments, and other countries, such as 
maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and economic stimulus that may be provided. 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial period, which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the consolidated Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
consolidated Group in future financial years. 

NOTE 22.   FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits.  The Group has various other financial 
assets and liabilities such as other receivables and payables, which arise directly from its operations.   

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including, credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and cash 
flow interest rate risk.  The Group is not exposed to price risk. 

Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors, who evaluate and agree upon risk management and objectives.   

(a) Market risk 

(i) Interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rate for each class of financial assets and 
financial liabilities comprises: 

 Floating Interest 
Rate 

Fixed Interest Rate Non Interest 
Bearing 

Total 
Weighted Effective 

Interest Rate  1 Year or Less 1 to 5 Years 

 2021 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2021 
$ 

2021 
% 

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

159,586 - - - 159,586 0.96% 

Trade and other 
receivables 

- - - 7,627 7,627 - 

Total financial assets 159,586 - - 7,627 167,213 0.91% 

Financial liabilities       

Trade and other 
payables 

- - - 15,341 15,341 - 

Borrowings - - - - - 0.00% 

Total financial liabilities - - - 15,341 15,341 0.00% 
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NOTE 22.    FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued 

 Floating Interest 
Rate 

Fixed Interest Rate Non Interest 
Bearing 

Total 
Weighted Effective 

Interest Rate  1 Year or Less 1 to 5 Years 

 2020 
$ 

2020 
$ 

2020 
$ 

2020 
$ 

2020 
$ 

2020 
% 

Financial assets       

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

807,693 - - - 807,693 0.09% 

Trade and other 
receivables 

- - - 5,767 5,767 - 

Total financial assets 807,693 - - 5,767 813,460 0.09% 

Financial liabilities       

Trade and other 
payables 

- - - 25,427 25,427 - 

Borrowings - - 1,855,000 210,973 2,065,973 8.8% 

Total financial liabilities - - 1,855,000 236,400 2,091,400 8.7% 

The Group policy is to monitor the interest rate yield curve out to six months to ensure a balance is maintained between 
the liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return. Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on 
daily bank deposit rates. The Group does not have any receivables or payables that may be affected by interest rate risk.  

Sensitivity analysis 

At 30 June 2021, if interest rates had changed by -/+100 basis points from the weighted average rate for the year with all 
other variables held constant, post-tax loss would have been $1,596 (2020: $8,595) lower/higher as a result of lower/higher 
interest income from cash and cash equivalents and lower/higher interest expense applicable to loans. Management have 
deemed a movement of 100 basis points to be an appropriate measure for this sensitivity analysis.  

(b) Credit risk 

The Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk.  Credit risk is managed by the Board and arises from 
cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposure including outstanding receivables. 

All cash balances held at banks are held at internationally recognised institutions. The majority of receivables are 
immaterial to the Group.  Given this the credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due or impaired can be 
assessed by reference to historical information about default rates.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date 
is the carrying amount of the financial assets disclosed within the financial report.  The credit quality of financial assets that 
are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or to historical 
information about default rates. 

Financial assets that are neither past due and not impaired are as follows:- 
 Consolidated 

 2021 2020 

 $ $ 

Financial assets - counterparties without external credit rating   

Financial assets with no defaults in the past 7,627 5,767 

   
Cash and cash equivalents   

‘AA-’  S&P rating 159,586 807,693 

 167,213 813,460 
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NOTE 22.    FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - continued 

 
(c) Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash balances and access to equity funding.  The Group’s 
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relate primarily to cash assets. The directors monitor the cash-burn 
rate of the Group on an on-going basis against budget and the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities to manage 
its liquidity risk. As at reporting date the Group had sufficient cash reserves to meet its requirements.  

The financial liabilities the Group had at reporting date were other payables incurred in the normal course of the business.  
These were non interest bearing and were due within the normal 30-60 days terms of creditor payments.   

Maturities of financial liabilities 

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows.   

 
(d) Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risks arise when future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.  

 
(e) Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. All financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group at the reporting date are recorded at amounts 
approximating their carrying amount. 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The 
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature. 

The carrying value of borrowings are assumed to be their fair value as the value is periodically confirmed with the borrower 
as to the amount outstanding and interest accruing.  The borrowings at reporting date are recorded at amounts 
approximating their carrying amount. 
 
 

NOTE 23.  SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of Directors that are 
used to make strategic decisions.  The Group does not have any operating segments with discrete financial information.  
The Group does not have any customers at this stage, and all the Group’s assets and liabilities are located within Australia.  
The Board of Directors review internal management reports that are consistent with the information provided in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of cash flows.  
As a result no reconciliation is required because the information as presented is what is used by the Board to make 
strategic decisions. 

 

 

 

 

 Less than 
6 months 

6-12 
months 

1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 
(assets)/ 
liabilities 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
As at 30 June 2021        
Trade and other payables 15,341 - - - - 15,341 15,341 
Borrowings - - - - - - - 

Total financial liabilities 15,341 - - - - 15,341 15,341 

As at 30 June 2020        
Trade and other payables 25,427 - - - - 25,427 25,427 
Borrowings - - - 2,065,973 - 2,065,973 2,065,973 

Total financial liabilities 25,427 - - 2,065,973 - 2,091,400 2,091,400 
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NOTE 24.  GROUP DETAILS 

The registered office and principal place of business of the Group is: 

Level 2, 22 Mount Street 

PERTH WA 6000 

 

NOTE 25.  CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

There are no contingent assets or liabilities. 

 

NOTE 26.  NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

Adoption of new and revised standards 

In the year ended 30 June 2021, the Company has reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for current annual reporting. 

It has been determined by the Company that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised Standards and 
Interpretations on its business and, therefore, no change is necessary to Company’s accounting policies. 

The Company has also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective for the 
year ended 30 June 2021. As a result of this review the Directors have determined that there is no impact, material or otherwise, 
of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations on its business and, therefore, no change necessary to Company’s 
accounting policies. 
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The Directors of the Group declare that: 
 
1. the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

a. complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 

b. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position at 30 June 2021 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date. 

 
 
2. In accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations Act the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have 

provided the directors with declarations that: 
 

a. the financial records of the Group for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with 
section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 
 

b. the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; and 
 

c. the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view. 
 
3. in the Directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable. 
 

4. The Group has included in the notes to the financial statement an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 

JAMES NEWBURY 

Managing Director and Executive Chairman 

 

Dated this 5th day of August 2021 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Members of East Energy Resources Limited  
 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial report of East Energy Resources Limited (“the Company”) and Controlled Entity (“the 

Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the 

directors’ declaration. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 

a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial performance 

for the year then ended; and 

 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 

Material Uncertainty Regarding Continuation as a Going Concern 
 

Without modifying our opinion above, we draw attention to Note 1(f) to the annual report, which indicates that the Group 

produced a net profit after tax for the year of $8,174,098 with net cash outflow of $648,107.  The net profit after tax for the 

year of $8,174,098 included the reversal of capitalised exploration expenditure impairment of $6,627,545 and the 

forgiveness of a related party loan of $2,231,077. 

 

These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1(f), indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that 

may cast significant doubt about the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern and whether it will realise its assets 

and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. 

 

Basis for Opinion  
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 

independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 



 

the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors 

of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a 

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 

matter 

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure – $12,423,548 

(Refer to Note 10) 

 

Exploration and evaluation is a key audit matter due to: 

• The significance of the balance to the Group’s 

consolidated financial position. 

• The level of judgement required in evaluating 

management’s application of the requirements of 

AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 

Resources. AASB 6 is an industry specific accounting 

standard requiring the application of significant 

judgements, estimates and industry knowledge. This 

includes specific requirements for expenditure to be 

capitalised as an asset and subsequent requirements 

which must be complied with for capitalised 

expenditure to continue to be carried as an asset.  

• The assessment of impairment of exploration and 

evaluation expenditure being inherently difficult. 

 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

 

• Assessing management’s determination of its areas 

of interest for consistency with the definition in AASB 

6. This involved analysing the tenements in which the 

Group holds an interest and the exploration 

programmes planned for those tenements.  

• For each area of interest, we assessed the Group’s 

rights to tenure by corroborating to government 

registries and evaluating agreements in place with 

other parties as applicable; 

• We assessed the basis of the reversal of impairments 

previously recognised against exploration and 

evaluation expenditure, the assumptions and 

judgements applied, the degree of estimation 

uncertainty. 

• We tested the additions to capitalised expenditure for 

the year by evaluating a sample of recorded 

expenditure for consistency to underlying records, the 

capitalisation requirements of the Group’s accounting 

policy and the requirements of AASB 6; 

• We considered the activities in each area of interest 

to date and assessed the planned future activities for 

each area of interest by evaluating budgets for each 

area of interest. 

 



 

• We assessed each area of interest for one or more of 

the following circumstances that may indicate 

impairment of the capitalised expenditure: 

• the licenses for the right to explore expiring in the 

near future or are not expected to be renewed; 

• substantive expenditure for further exploration in 

the specific area is neither budgeted or planned 

• decision or intent by the Group to discontinue 

activities in the specific area of interest due to lack 

of commercially viable quantities of resources; 

and  

• data indicating that, although a development in 

the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying 

amount of the exploration asset is unlikely to be 

recovered in full from successful development or 

sale.  

• We assessed the appropriateness of the 

related disclosures in note 10 to the 

financial statements. 

 

Other Information  

 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 

Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report 

thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the 

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  

 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 

accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 



 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 

Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors. 

 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, 

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 

cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 

and performance of the Group’s audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 



 

 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 

on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 

of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 

auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 11 to 13 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 

2021.   

 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of East Energy Resources Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2021, complies 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Responsibilities 

 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in 

accordance with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration 

report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

 

 

CRITERION AUDIT PTY LTD  

 

  

 

 

 

 

ELIZABETH LOUWRENS CA 

Director 

 

DATED at PERTH this 5th day of August 2021 



Shareholder Information  
 

 
 

 
 

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited Listing Rules, and not disclosed elsewhere in this 

report. 

 

Class of shares and voting rights 

 

The voting rights attached to the fully paid ordinary shares of the Company are: 

 

 at a meeting of members or classes of members each member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy or by 

attorney; and 

 on a show of hands every person present who is a member has one vote, and on a poll every person present in person 

or by proxy or attorney has one vote for each ordinary share held. 

 

There are no voting rights attached to any options on issue. 

 

Substantial shareholders 

 

The names of the substantial shareholders in the Company’s register as at 26 July 2021 are: 

          Number 

1. Maylion Pty Ltd       2,511,185,994 

2. Majicyl Pty Ltd <Basso Investment A/c>       163,526,982 

       

 

Distribution of shareholders (as at 26 July 2021) 

 

SPREAD OF HOLDINGS NUMBER OF HOLDERS UNITS % OF ISSUED CAPITAL 

    

1 – 1,000 35 6,630 0.00% 

1,001 – 5,000 121 349,492 0.01% 

5,001 – 10,000 100 850,030 0.03% 

10,001 – 100,000 293 12,024,969 0.37% 

100,001 – over 100 3,187,755,914 99.59% 

 649 3,200,987,035 100.00% 

 

 

There were 276 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel at July 2021. The percentage of shares held by the 

20 largest shareholders is 99.03%. There is no current on-market buy back taking place.  

  

Distribution of listed option holders 

 

There are currently no listed options. 

 

Unlisted options  

 

There are currently no unlisted options. 

 

 

 



Shareholder Information - continued 
 

 
 

 
 

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS (26 July 2021) 
 

NAME 
NUMBER OF ORDINARY  

SHARES HELD 
PERCENTAGE OF  

CAPITAL HELD 

Maylion Pty Ltd 2,511,185,994 78.450% 

Majicyl Pty Ltd <Basso Investment A/C> 163,526,982 5.109% 

Mr Carl Coward 120,000,000 3.749% 

Mr Alastair Warren Smith 120,000,000 3.749% 

Fehu Capital Pty Ltd< Fehu Capital A/C> 59,808,391 1.868% 

Emergis Capital Pte Ltd <Corp No 201904173W> 59,808,391 1.868% 

Mr Christopher Paul Godfrey 59,808,391 1.868% 

Roman Resource Management Pty Ltd 59,808,391 1.868% 

Altius Investment Holdings 2,897,892 0.091% 

Benison Holdings Pty Ltd 2,225,994 0.070% 

Diverse Industry Financial Services Pty Ltd 1,500,000 0.047% 

GA & AM Leaver Investments Pty Ltd <GA & AM Leaver S/Fund A/C> 1,403,334 0.044% 

BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <DRP> 1,303,000 0.041% 

Mr Timothy John Ellix 1,160,000 0.036% 

Mr David Robert John Kaluza & Mrs Cyrene Constantino Kaluza <CD 
Kaluza Superfund A/C> 1,042,567 0.033% 

S & CJ Pty Ltd <Falcon Gold Super Fund A/C> 1,000,000 0.031% 

Mr Andrew Michael Pratt & Mr Andrew David Argyle 1,000,000 0.031% 

BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <IB AU Noms Retail Client DRP> 830,005 0.026% 

Mr Ernest Feldman 822,000 0.026% 

Mr Mario Ambrosino 815,010 0.025% 

Total 3,169,946,342 99.030% 
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